#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,870

THE SHELBY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF SHELBY, OHIO,

Petitioner,

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT

vs.

MARY LOU SMITH,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS (With Separate Appendix)

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By: G. BART BILLBROUGH Attorneys for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower, Suite 2500 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

#

#### INTRODUCTION

Th Petiti ner, The Shelby Mutual Insurance Company o Shelby, Ohio, seeks review and reversal of the May 11, 1988, opinion of the Fourth District of Appeal of Florida, <u>The Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith</u>, 527 So.2d 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), which affirmed a summary final judgment in favor of the Respondent on the issue of whether the Respondent was entitled to uninsured motorist benefits.

On August 5, 1988, Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Review before this Court and, after consideration of the briefs regarding that issue, this court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction on January 19, 1989. This case is scheduled for argument on Tuesday, May 2, 1989. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, \$ 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980), and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The Petitioner, The Shelby Mutual Insurance Company of Shelby, Ohio, was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Defendant in the declaratory judgment action before the trial court.

The Respondent, Mary Lou Smith, was the Appellee before the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Plaintiff in the trial court.

The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court or by name.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Mary Lou Smith's Amended Complaint alleged that on or about March 9, 1985, Smith had been involved in a two car automobile accident caused solely by the fault of the other driver. As a result of the accident, the Respondent alleged she suffered permanent injuries and that the tortfeasor's insurance company paid to Smith the full limits of its insurance policy, Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$50,000.00) Dollars. (A. 1).

The Amended Complaint also alleged that the Respondent had a motor vehicle insurance policy with Shelby Mutual which provided for uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 (\$25,000.00) Dollars. Despite filing a claim for uninsured motorist benefits, Shelby Mutual denied coverage. (A. 2).

Shely Mutual filed an Answer and Counterclaim for Declaratory Relief. In its Answer, Shelby Mutual admitted issuing the motor vehicle insurance policy to Smith and admitted the other material allegations of the Amended Complaint. Shelby Mutual also asserted, however, as an affirmative defense that Smith's accident did not involve an "uninsured motor vehicle" as defined in § 627.727(3), Florida Statutes, and that she therefore was not entitled to uninsured motorist coverage. The Counterclaim sought declaratory relief determining that the there was no uninsured motorist coverage

for the accident and alleged that Shelby Mutual was unsure of its rights under § 627.727, Florida Statutes, as amended in 1984, noting that there were no appellate opinions construing those amendments to the statute. (A. 2).

Smith thereafter moved for a summary judgment. After hearing argument on the motion, the trial court concluded that Smith was entitled to Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 (\$25,000.00) Dollars in uninsured motorist coverage under her policy with Shelby Mutual. The trial court's order referred the parties to arbitration as provided by the uninsured motorist policy.

The issue reviewed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal was whether the trial court erred in granting summary final judgment in favor of Smith. In that appeal, Shelby Mutual argued that the trial court erred in granting summary final judgment in favor of the Respondent because the trial court improperly determined that the tortfeasor's vehicle was an "uninsured motor vehicle" within the meaning of § 627.727 (3), Florida Statutes (1983). Shelby Mutual argued that in light of the fact that the tortfeasor's vehicle had liability Fifty Thousand and coverage in the amount of Dollars and that Smith's vehicle had uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage in the Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 (\$25,000.00) Dollars, it was improper for the trial court to conclude that the tortfeasor's

vehicle met the statutory definition of "uninsured motor vehicle.'' (A. 3).

On May 11, 1988, the Fourth District Court of ppeal concluded that the Florida Legislature in its 1984 amendment to § 627.727, Florida Statutes, provided that all uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage be excess coverage and that it pay over and above the tortfeasor's liability coverage should the liability coverage be inadequate to fully compensate the injured insured. In reaching this result, the Fourth District Court of Appeal noted that the 1984 amendments created confusion regarding the proper application of § 627.727(3), Florida Statutes. (A. 6, 11).

Shelby Mutual thereafter moved for rehearing, rehearing en hand, and for certification of issue for Supreme Court review. In that motion, Shelby Mutual in part noted the First District Court of Appeal had reached the opposite conclusion on the same issue considered by the Fourth District in the instant case. <u>See</u>, <u>United Fidelity & Guaranty Company v Woolard</u>, 523 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). (A. 12-16).

In response to the motion for rehearing, Smith conceded that the First District's opinion in the <u>Woolard</u> conflicted with the Fourth District's opinion here. (A. 17-18).

On July 27, 1988, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied the motion for rehearing, but did note that the First District's opinion in <u>Woolard</u> conflicted with its opinion on the same issue. (A. 19).

On August 5, 1988, Shelby Mutual filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, contending that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision below expressly and directly conflicted with a decision of another District Court of Appeal on the same question of law. As such, Shelby Mutual contended that this Court had discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V  $\S$  3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980), and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv).

On January 19, 1989, this Court entered its order accepting jurisdiction and setting the cause for oral argument.

#### POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONSTRUING THE 1984 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION
627.727, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO REQUIRE
UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TO STACK
ABOVE A TORTFEASOR'S LIABILITY COVERAGE
WITHOUT SETOFF WHERE A REVIEW OF THE
PLAIN AND CLEAR LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE
AS WELL AS THE FACTS IN THIS CASE SHOWS
THAT THERE WAS NO "UNINSURED MOTOR
VEHICLE" IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, AS
DEFINED AND REQUIRED BY § 627.727(3).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The statute governing uninsured motorist ben fits, § 627.727, Florida Statutes, has at all times clearly provided that a vehicle is not uninsured unless the tortfeasor's insurance coverage is less than the uninsured motorist coverage available to the allegedly injured claimant. While the 1984 amendments to § 627.727(1), Florida Statutes, may have required uninsured motorist benefits to pay in excess of liability coverage, that requirement was conditioned on the existence of an "uninsured motor vehicle" in the first instance.

This Court should follow the lead of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company v. Woolard</u>, 523 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) and the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Marquez v. Prudential Property & Casualty Insurance Company</u>, 534 So.2d 918 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) in holding that an uninsured motor vehicle continues to be a vehicle for which the limits of bodily injury liability for its insured are less than the limits applicable to the injured's uninsured motorist coverage.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's analysis below erroneously failed to consider the proposition that a clearly worded statute will be afforded its plain meaning. Because the language set forth in § 627.727 in its entirety is clear and unambiguous, there was no need to engage in judicial

interpretation of legislative notes and records in deciding this case.

Reversal is warranted.

#### **ARGUMENT**

WHETHER THE OWER COURT ER RED CONSTRUING THE 1984 AMENDMENTS TO SECTION FLORIDA STATUTES, 627.727, TO REOUIRE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TUABOVE A TORTFEASOR'S LIABILITY COVERAGE TUOHTIW SETOFF WHERE A REVIEW OF PLAIN AND CLEAR LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE AS WELL AS THE FACTS IN THIS CASE SHOWS THERE WAS NO "UNINSURED VEHICLE" INTHEFIRST INSTANCE, DEFINED AND REQUIRED BY § 627.727(3).

A review of the record in this case will show that the Fourth District Court of Appeal incorrectly resorted to a review of possible legislative history in an attempt to interpret the 1984 amendments to § 627.727, Florida Statutes. In doing so, the Fourth District Court of Appeal ignored the plain meaning of the language utilized by the Florida Legislature in the 1984 amendments. A close examination of the issues in this case shows that the First and Third District Courts of Appeal properly found the wording of subsections 627.727(1) and (3) did not change the fact that the law applied only to uninsured motorist situations and the definition of an uninsured motorist did not change with the 1984 amendment.

Prior to the legislature's amendment of § 627.727, Florida Statutes, in 1984, the statutory uninsured motorist law plainly allowed for the setoff of a tortfeasor's liability coverage against the insured party's underinsured motorist coverage. Similarly, the legislature provided in § 627.727(2)

that insurers would make available excess underinsured motorist coverage against which liability coverage could not be setoff. <u>Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith</u>, 527 So.2d 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

The Florida Legislature's 1984 amendments prohibited the setoff of liability coverage, but left unchanged the definition of an "uninsured motor vehicle":

(1) No motor vehicle liability insurance policy shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because bodily injury, sickness, or disease, including death, resulting therefrom.

The coverage described under this section shall be over and above, but shall not duplicate, the benefits, available to an insured under any workers' compensation law, personal injury protection benefits disability benefits law, or similar law; under any automobile medical coverage; under any motor liability coverage; or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle any other person or organization jointly or severely liable together with such owner or operator for the accident; shall cover such coverage difference, if any, between the sum of such benefits and the damages sustained, up to the maximum amount of such coverage provided under this section. The amount of coverage under this section shall not be reduced by a set-off against any coverage, including liability insurance.

- (3) For the purpose of this coverage, the term "uninsured motor vehicle' shall, subject to the terms and conditions of such coverage, be deemed to include an insured motor vehicle when the liability insurer thereof:
  - (a) Is unable to make payment with respect to the legal liability of its insured within the limits specified therein because of insolvency; or
  - (b) Has provided limits of bodily injury liability for its insured which are less than the limits applicable to the insured person provided under uninsured motorist's coverage applicable to the injured person.
- § 627.727(1) and (3), Florida Statutes.

Although three District Courts of Appeal have addressed the import of the 1984 amendments to \$627.727, Florida Statutes, only the Fourth District Court of Appeal has concluded that the legislature repealed \$627.727(3), Florida Statutes, definitions by implication. The other courts which have addressed this issue have applied \$627.727, Florida Statutes, in its entirety to conclude that a party must first meet the "uninsured motorist" definition before recovering uninsured motorist benefits.

In <u>United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company v. Woolard</u>, 523 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the First District Court of Appeal reviewed the 1984 amendments, noted that the legislature did not change the definition of an uninsured motorist, and concluded that its failure to do so made the

amendments to § 627.727(1) and (2), Florida Statutes, applicable only if a person met the subsection (3) "uninsured motorist" definition:

Appellees assert that pursuant § 627.727(1), as amended in 1984, uninsured motorist coverage is excess with no set-off for the coverage, tort-feasor's easor's coverage. We appellees' application We disagree of with amendment to this case. The present wording of subsections 627.727(1) and (3), has not changed the fact that § 627.727 is applicable only to uninsured motorist situations, and the definition of an uninsured motorist did not change with the 1984 amendment. The statute still provides that it applies only for protection of insureds who are legally obligated to recover damages from owners and operators of uninsured motor vehicles and that an uninsured motor vehicle is one in which the liability limits are less than the limits applicable to the injured person under the injured person's uninsured motorist coverage. A party not injured by an uninsured motorist, or one not have a claim against an uninsured motorist, may not recover under the uninsured motorist provision McKinnie policy, <u>See</u>. ive <u>American</u> of his own McKinnie v. Progressive American Insurance Co., 488 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1986) and Bayles v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 483 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1985).

United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company
v. Woolard, supra, 523 So.2d at 799.

The Third District Court of Appeal reached the same conclusion as the <u>Woolard</u> court in <u>Marquez v. Prudential</u> <u>Property & Casualty Insurance Company</u>, 534 \$0.2d 918 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). In that case, the Third District Court of Appeal aligned itself with the First District Court of Appeal in its

conclusion that the 1984 amendments to **S** 627.727, Florida Statutes, did not alter the requirement that there be an uninsured motorist as defined by **S** 627.727(3)(b):

We agree with the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Woolard, 523 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), deciding that the 1984 amendments to § 627.727; Florida Statutes, did not change the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle enunciated in § 627.727(3)(b), Florida Thus, we hold that an Statutes (1983). uninsured motor vehicle continues to be a vehicle for which the limits of bodily injury liability for its insured are less than the limits applicable to the injured uninsured motorist person's coverage. See McKinnie v. Progressive Ins. Co., 488 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1986); Bayles v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., So.2d 402 (Fla. 1985).

# Marquez v. Prudential Property & Casualty Insurance Company, supra.

Applying the tests from Woolard and Marquez to the instant facts, it is clear that the trial court, as well as the Fourth District Court of Appeal, improperly permitted recovery against the Petitioner. The Respondent's uninsured motorist coverage was Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 (\$25,000.00) Dollars and the tortfeasor's liability coverage was Fifty Thousand and 00/100 (\$50,000.00) Dollars. Because limits of bodily injury liability provided by the tortfeasor's liability insurer exceed the uninsured motorist benefits, the tortfeasor's vehicle was not an "uninsured motor vehicle" under § 627.727(3), Florida Statutes, and requirements of § 627.727(1), Florida Statutes, therefore are

not activated. Accordingly, the lower court should have entered and the Fourth District Court of Appeal should have required a final judgment in favor of the Petitioner, not the Respondent.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's analysis of this issue below, Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith, 527 So.2d 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), focused on what that court perceived to be confusion created by the 1984 amendment. court spent a substantial period of time discussing the Florida Bar Continuing Legal Education's Florida Automobile Insurance Law (1985) manual and various authors' assessment of the legislature's actions. After review of the information contained therein as well as the House of Representatives' staff summary and bill preface, the Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that confusion existed regarding proper application of § 627.727. Under such circumstances, the court concluded that the legislature "meant" to change the definitional section, but had failed to do so. Shelby Mutual Insurance Company v. Smith, supra, 527 So.2d at 834-835.

The fundamental flaw with the analysis of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is that its presumes confusion where none exists. Indeed, a brief review of certain well-established rules of statutory construction shows that the Fourth District Court of Appeal improperly went beyond the clear language of § 627.727, Florida Statutes, itself.

In <u>Heredia v. Allstate Insurance Company</u>, 358 \$0.2d 1353 (Fla. 1978), this Court made clear that where the words of a legislative enactment are clear and unambiguous, judicial interpretation of legislative history should not substitute for application of the law's unequivocal meaning:

In matters requiring statutory construction, courts always seek to effectuate legislative intent. Where the words selected by the Legislature are clear and unambiguous, however, judicial interpretation is not appropriate to displace the expressed intent. Foley v. State ex rel. Gordon, 50 So.2d 179, 184 (Fla. 1951); Platt v. Lanier, 127 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). neither the function nor prerogative of the courts to speculate on constructions less reasonable, when the language itself conveys an unequivocal meaning.

Heredia v. Allstate Insurance Company,
supra, 358 So.2d at 1354-1355,

Where language in a statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no reason to resort to rules of statutory construction for interpretation because the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning. <u>Buick v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 72 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). While legislative intent is helpful in the construction of statutes, it is the plain meaning of the statutory language which warrants first consideration in determining the legislature's intent. <u>St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Company v. Hamm</u>, 414 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982).

The critical flaw of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's analysis is that it failed to follow these primary

rules of statutory construction. In the instant case, there was no need to seek out the legislature's intent where the plain and ordinary language made very clear the circumstances surrounding application of the 1984 amendments to § 627.727. In particular, the changes in subsection (1) made clear that applicability arose when an "uninsured motor situation occurred. Nothing about the 1984 amendments, however, changed the fact that there had to be an "uninsured motor vehicle pursuant to \$627.727(3), Florida Statutes, before any of the changes affected an interested party. language was clear, unambiguous, and apparently contrary to what the Fourth District Court of Appeal panel would have liked to have seen on these facts. That, however, is not the test.

In summary, the Petitioner submits that it is the analysis of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Moolard</u> and the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Marquez</u> which should govern this case. Since its enactment, the uninsured motorist statute has stated that for the purposes of determining the availability of uninsured motorist coverage, there must be an uninsured motor vehicle. Because that prerequisite definition has remained unchanged throughout the evolution of the statute, this Court should reject the Fourth District Court of Appeal's attempt to repeal by implication that requirement. A review of the statutory language in this case makes clear that there is no need to resort to attempts at legislative

mind-reading. In applying the plain, clear and concise requirements of § 627.727, Florida Statutes, in its entirety, this Court should follow the lead of First and Third District Courts of Appeal and reverse the ruling below.

#### CONCLUSION

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