OA 5-2-89

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

33 68

### TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 72,870

THE SHELBY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF SHELBY, OHIO,

Petitioner,

-vs-

MARY LOU SMITH,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE

MAR 20 1989

CLERK, SUPRAWE COURT

ESPUSY Cierk

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Walter C. Jones, III., Esq.
KOCHA & JONES, P.A.
P.O. Box 1427
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
and
Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Respondent

FLORIDA JAI ALAI, INC. v. LAKE HOWELL WATER	
AND RECLAMATION DISTRICT	_
274 So.2d 522 (Fla. 1973)	5
FOLEY V. STATE	4

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Shelby Mutual contends that in SHELBY MUTUAL INSURANCE CO. v. SMITH, 527 So.2d 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the Fourth District erred in construing the 1984 Amendments to Fla. Stat. S627.727 to provide that uninsured motorist insurance is excess insurance, i.e., the coverage is not to be reduced by any benefits available to the insured under any other motor vehicle liability insurance coverages, including that of the tortfeasor. However, the Fourth District's construction of the statute is obviously consistent with the legislative intent as clearly and repeatedly expressed in the legislative history. This Court has held on numerous occasions that legislative intent should control issues of statutory interpretation even when it is inconsistent with the literal language of the statute, see e.g., STATE v. WEBB, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981). The Fourth District properly applied that principle in this case. Even assuming arquendo, that ambiguity is a prerequisite to reliance on legislative intent,

<sup>1/</sup>Shelby Mutual characterizes the issue as being one of "stacking" the insured's UM coverage above the tortfeasor's coverage. The use of the term "stacking" would appear to be inappropriate in light of the technical definition of that term, see Fla. Stat. S627.4132.

the Fourth District noted that the 1984 Amendments to Fla. Stat. \$627.727 created an ambiguity in the statute. Moreover, to accept the interpretation of the statute argued by Shelby Mutual would cause an unreasonable result in that the insurers would obtain a windfall at the expense of their insureds since the legislature specifically provided that premiums for uninsured motorist coverage would be increased in accordance with the increase in coverage. For these reasons, the decision of the Fourth District should be approved.

Shelby Mutual argues that there is no ambiguity in Fla. Stat. S627.727 and, therefore, the Fourth District's decision is inconsistent with cases in which this Court has held that unambiguous statutes should be construed literally without reliance on other evidence of legislative intent, citing HEREDIA v. ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO., 358 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1978); ST. PETERSBURG BANK AND TRUST CO. v. HAMM, 414 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982). While it is Respondent's position that there is an ambiguity in Fla. Stat. S627.727, see Argument, infra, pg. 14-16 even assuming arguendo the statute is unambiguous, the Fourth District properly relied on the legislative history which clearly intended the result it reached.

This Court has held on numerous occasions that a statute should be construed and applied so as to give effect to evident legislative intent, regardless of whether such construction varies from the statute's literal meaning, B.B. v. RICHARDSON, 23 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1945); FOLEY v. STATE, 50 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1951); DELTONA CORP. v. FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, 220 So.2d 905

(Fla. 1969); GRIFFIS v. STATE, 356 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1978); STATE v. WEBB, supra; CITY OF BOCA RATON v. GIDMAN, 440 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1983); VILDIBILL v. JOHNSON, 492 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 1986). FLORIDA JAI ALAI, INC. v. LAKE HOWELL WATER AND RECLAMATION DISTRICT, 274 So.2d 522 (Fla. 1973).

For example, in STATE v. WEBB, this Court construed the Florida Stop and Frisk Law, Fla. Stat. \$901.151. While that statute stated that "probable cause" is a prerequisite to a valid frisk, this Court determined that that phrase was not utilized in the same sense that it was used when referring to arrests and search warrants. Instead, the legislature intended a lesser standard of "cause" to justify a frisk. This Court noted that its construction contradicted the strict letter of the statute. However, it justified that departure because overwhelming legislative history in support of interpretation, including, inter alia, an historical note in the Florida Legislative Service Bureau, 398 So.2d at 825, fn. 6. the case <u>sub judice</u>, the Fourth District specifically relied upon in WEBB support of its determination that STATE v. legislative history justified a departure from the literal definition contained Fla. language of the in Stat. \$627.727(3)(b).

In GRIFFIS v. STATE, <u>supra</u>, this Court construed <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. \$943.42(1975) as requiring that a vehicle be used in an illegal drug operation as a prerequisite to forfeiture, even though that interpretation conflicted with the literal reading of the statute. It was noted that the statute constituted a substantial

adoption of the provisions of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act and was intended to be consistent with the Federal statutory scheme. This Court reviewed the congressional committee reports of the Federal Act and the notes of the Uniform Act and concluded that the literal reading of the Florida statute must yield to the obvious legislative intent. In GRIFFIS, this Court quoted with approval from BEEBE v. RICHARDSON, supra, 23 So.2d at 719:

•••[W]here the context of a statute taken literally conflicts with a plain legislative intent clearly discernible, the context must yield to the legislative purpose. For otherwise the intent of the lawmakers would be defeated.

Despite the fact that the cases relied upon by Shelby Mutual appear to conflict with those discussed above, they can be reconciled. In ST. PETERSBURG BANK AND TRUST v. HAMM, supra, this Court stated that the legislative intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute and, therefore, unambiguous statutes should be applied literally. However, the opinion noted, 414 So.2d at 1073, "This case does not present the overwhelming evidence of a contrary [legislative] intent expressed in GRIFFIS [v. STATE, supra,]."

In HEREDIA v. ALLSTATE INSURANCE, this Court simply noted that it was not the "function or prerogative of the courts to speculate on [statutory] constructions more or less reasonably, when the language itself conveys an unequivocal meaning," [Emphasis supplied.] 358 So.2d at 1355. However, when the legislative intent is clearly manifest in legislative history, a

court does not need to speculate when adopting an interpretation that is consistent with it.

Thus, it would appear that this Court adheres to the "plain meaning" doctrine of statutory construction, but will depart from it when the legislative history overwhelmingly supports a contrary interpretation. This is consistent with the rationale of the "plain meaning" doctrine, i.e., that the legislature is assumed to know the meaning of the words it has used and to have expressed its intent through the use of the words found in the statute, THAYER v. STATE, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976); S.R.G. CORP. DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 365 So.2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1978). However, that canon of statutory construction does not provide any flexibility for a situation in which the legislature made an honest mistake in expressing its intent in the statutory language. While such occurrences are rare, this Court has not rigidly adhered to the "plain meaning" doctrine, when doing so would clearly violate legislative intent. Instead, it has authorized exceptions to that doctrine "when a literal interpretation would lead to an illogical result or one not intended by the lawmakers," PARKER v. STATE, 406 So.2d 1089, 1091 (Fla. 1981). That is the situation here and the Fourth District properly resolved it.

The legislative intent is clearly and repeatedly expressed in the legislative history that the coverage mandated by <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. S627.727 is to be <u>excess</u> coverage, i.e., over and above any other applicable coverage or benefits. Therefore, this Court would not be speculating in approving the interpretation adopted

by the Fourth District. That the legislative intent is clear from the legislative history is apparent from the fact that neither Shelby Mutual nor the Florida Association for Insurance Review (Amicus Curiae, hereafter "The Insurance Association") have argued, even as an alternative position, that the legislative history can be reconciled with their interpretation of the statute. A brief summary of the legislative history demonstrates this point unequivocally.

Prior to the 1984 Amendments, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (5627.727 provided that motor vehicle insurers were required to offer two forms of uninsured motorist coverage: standard uninsured motorist coverage, under which the protection available to the insured was reduced by any liability insurance benefits available from the tortfeasor; and "excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage" which provided coverage for an insured over and above the benefits available under the tortfeasor's liability coverage (Fla. Stat. §627.727(1972)). In 1984, the legislature decided to merge those two types of coverage and provide that uninsured motorist coverage would be over and above any motor vehicle liability coverage of the tortfeasor.

The proposed amendments to  $\underline{Fla}$ . Stat. (5627.727 were contained in House Bill 319. The title to House Bill 319 was (A10):

A bill to be entitled An act relating to insurance; amending s. 627.727, F.S., providing that uninsured motorist coverage is over and above any motor vehicle liability coverage; prohibiting setoffs; deleting the requirement that an insurer make available excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage;

providing an effective date. [Emphasis supplied.]

The House Summary noted that the Bill (A4):

Changes uninsured motorist coverage to be that of excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage and abolishes the need of insurers to offer excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage. Provides that uninsured motorist coverage shall be over and above any motor vehicle liability coverage and prohibits setoffs. [Emphasis supplied.]

The Staff Summary and Analysis of House Bill 319 (hereafter "Staff Summary"), noted that (Al): "This Bill requires motor vehicle insurers to offer only excess uninsured motorist coverage." In discussing prior law and the effect of the proposed amendments, the drafters noted that under the existing version of Fla. Stat. S627.727 motor vehicle insurers were required to offer two forms of uninsured motorist coverage: standard uninsured motorist coverage and excess motorist coverage (A1). They noted that under the standard uninsured motorist coverage, the amount of protection available to the insured is reduced by any liability insurance benefits available from the tortfeasor whereas under the excess uninsured motorist coverage "the full limit of uninsured motorist protection is available in addition to, and not reduced by, the other party's liability coverage" (Al). The Staff Summary noted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage had been previously defined in Fla. Stat. §627.727(2)(b)(1972) as:

that the proposed amendments would make "excess uninsured motorist coverage the only type of uninsured motorist coverage required to be offered by insurers" (A2).

The Staff Summary provided an example to demonstrate the application of prior law and the effect of the proposed amendments (A1-2):

a motorist purchases uninsured [Alssume motorist coverage with limits of \$10,000 per person, \$20,000 per accident. He is involved in an accident with another motorist who has bodily injury liability insurance of \$10,000 per person, \$20,000 per accident. Under these facts, no uninsured motorist coverage is available [under existing law] if the motorist has purchased the standard uninsured motorist protection. If the motorist elected to purchase the excess uninsured motorist assuming the coverage, damages sufficient, the full \$10,000 excess UM would be available, in addition to the \$10,000 liability insurance available from the other driver.

The Staff Summary also noted the economic impact of the amendment which was, necessarily, that premiums for uninsured

<sup>(</sup>Footnote Continued)

vehicle when the other person's liability insurer has provided limits of bodily injury liability for its insured which are less than the damages of the injured person purchasing such excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage. Such excess coverage shall provide the same coverage as the uninsured motor vehicle coverage provided in subsection (1), except that the excess coverage shall also be over and above, but shall not duplicate, the benefits available under the other person's liability coverage. The amount of such excess coverage shall not be reduced by a setoff against any coverage, including liability insurance.

motorist coverage would increase due to the required increase in coverage (A2-3). The drafters listed examples of uninsured motorist rates under the prior law and the greater premiums that would be necessary under the proposed amendment, noting (A3):

The bill would make the premiums for excess uninsured motorist [coverage] applicable to all persons choosing to purchase this coverage.

The amendments proposed in House Bill 319 and the comments thereon remained intact through a revision of the Staff Summary (A5-9). Thereafter, they were repeated virtually verbatim in the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement for the proposed Senate Bill 0243 (which incorporated House Bill 319) and two revisions thereof (A15-19). The amendments and their intended effect were discussed in the same terms in the Final Staff Summary prepared by the Committee on Commerce of the Florida House of Representatives (A23-27).

Throughout each of the Staff Summaries, the precise example quoted, <u>supra</u>, was repeated which indicated that the uninsured motorist coverage was to apply even when the tortfeasor's liability coverage limits were the same as the insured's UM limits. Clearly, that result was intended by the legislature even though it was inconsistent with the definitional section of the statute, <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>, §627.727(3). But the legislature obviously overlooked that subsection because that subsection of the statute was never mentioned in any of the legislative history materials.

The economic impact portion of each Staff Summary specifically noted that the Bill would make the premiums for excess uninsured motorist coverage applicable to all persons choosing to purchase uninsured motorist coverage. Each Staff Summary contained a table which listed examples of the increased premiums for excess uninsured coverage that would be charged by five different carriers in certain geographical regions of Florida.

The Bill became law on May 21, 1984, Ch. 84-41 Laws of Florida. The title of the Bill as passed was, in pertinent part (A28), "A bill to be entitled An act relating to insurance; amending s. 627.727, F.S., providing that uninsured motorist coverage is over and above any motor vehicle liability coverage;...." This Court has noted with respect to a different statute, that (STATE v. WEBB, supra, 398 So.2d at 824):

In determining legislative intent, we must give due weight and effect to the title of section 901.151, Florida Statutes (1977), which was placed at the beginning of the section by the legislature itself. The title is more than an index to what the section is about or has reference to; it is a direct statement by the legislature of its intent. BERGER v. JACKSON, 156 Fla. 251, 768, 23 So.2d 265 (1945).

In order to modify the statutory language to implement the intended change, the legislature amended the provisions of <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. S627.727 as follows (the language added by amendment is underlined):

The coverage described under this section shall be over and above, but shall not duplicate, the benefits available to an insured under any workers' compensation law,

personal injury protection benefits, disability benefits law, or similar law; under automobile medical expense coverages; under any motor vehicle liability insurance coverages; or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident. The coverage described in this section shall cover the difference, if any, between the sum of such benefits and the damages sustained, up to the maximum amount of such coverage provided under this section. The amount of coverage available under this section shall not be reduced by a setoff against any coverage, including liability insurance.

The legislature deleted the language of subsection (1), which provided:

Only the underinsured motorist's automobile liability insurance shall be set off against underinsured motorist coverage.

Additionally, the legislature deleted the provisions of <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §627.727(2)(b), which required insurers to offer excess underinsured motor vehicle coverage in addition to the traditional uninsured motorist's coverage. That provision had also provided that the amount of such excess coverage should not be reduced by a setoff against any liability insurance coverage.

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